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Michael Purdy, Director
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Wayne Clough, President
Georgia Institute of Technology
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Dr. Judith Curry, Chair and Professor
School of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences
Georgia Institute of Technology
221 Bobby Dodd Way
Atlanta, GA 30332-0340
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Fax: 404-894-5638

Dr. Dan Lizarralde, Assistant Professor
School of Earth and Atmospheric Sciences
Georgia Institute of Technology
221 Bobby Dodd Way
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Fax: 404-894-5638

RE: Actions Relating to the operations of the National Science Foundation research vessel R/V
Maurice Ewing in the Gulf of California that are resulting in take of marine mammals in violation
of the Endangered Species Act, Marine Mammal Protection Act, and National Environmental
Policy Act.

On behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity I am writing to express our grave concerns regarding ongoing
acoustic research being carried out in the Gulf of California by the National Science Foundation owned vessel
the R/V Maurice Ewing that have been linked to the deaths of marine mammals.  This letter also serves as
formal notice of intent to sue under the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) to the extent such notice is required
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1

The Ninth Circuit held in Forest Conservation Council v. Rosboro, 50 F.3d 781, 786 (9th Cir. 1995), that the normal 60 day waiting period following
notice prior to filing suit under the ESA may be dispensed with to enjoin any actions that "pose a significant risk to the well-being of any [protected
species]." 
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The website for the R/V Maurice Ewing lists the current research project as "Lizarralde, Ga. Tech., OCE01-11983"
(http://www.ldeo.columbia.edu/Ewing/Home.html).  The MARGINS website hosted by the Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory contains the research
proposal for the project,  "Seismic and Geologic study of Gulf of California Rifting and Magmatism"
(http://www.ldeo.columbia.edu/margins/RupContLitho.html). 
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The proposal submitted by Dr. Lizarralde states that the research has "substantial societal relevance by virtue of the global petroleum reserves
accumulated within basins formed through rifting." Id.
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The website for the R/V Maurice Ewing shows the airgun source at over 220 dB (http://www.ldeo.columbia.edu/Ewing/Home.html).  Testimony
presented at the meeting of the Marine Mammal Commission in San Diego on October 8, 2002 indicated that the source level from the R/V Maurice
Ewing might be as high as 265dB.

by law.  See 16 U.S.C.§ 1540(g).1  While no such notice is required under the National Environmental Policy
Act ("NEPA") or the Marine Mammal Protection Act ("MMPA"), we are providing such notice in the hopes
that the National Science Foundation ("NSF"), Columbia University, and Georgia Tech University will
promptly act to suspend the research until such time as the project has undergone the legally required
environmental review, obtained the necessary permits, and implemented all necessary mitigation measures.  We
would also hope that the National Marine Fisheries Service ("NMFS") would exercise its responsibility as the
agency vested with the authority and responsibility to enforce the ESA and the MMPA to take enforcement
action to stop these violations of law.  In the event that the NSF and the universities involved do not voluntarily
suspend the acoustic research, or NMFS does not take enforcement action, we are prepared to file suit in federal
court and seek immediate injunctive relief against the NSF, Columbia University, and Georgia Tech University
for their ongoing violations of federal law.

Background

The R/V Maurice Ewing is an NSF owned research vessel operated by the Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory
of Columbia University.  On or about September 17, 2002, the R/V Maurice Ewing left port in San Diego for
the Gulf of California.  The vessel is currently engaged in an NSF funded research project to explore the
continental rifting zone in the Gulf of California.  This research is scheduled to continue until November 4,
2002.  Dr. Dan Lizarralde of Georgia Tech is the principal investigator of the research project.2  This specific
study is part of the larger Rupturing Continental Lithosphere initiative of NSF's MARGINS program.3 

The geophysical research ongoing in the Gulf of California involves the R/V Maurice Ewing using its 20 airgun
array to fire extremely high energy acoustic bursts.  The resulting sound from the airguns is well over 220
decibels at the source.4 The planned research path of the vessel indicates that the airgun use will take place on
several transects, potentially affecting most areas of the Gulf.
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On September 25, 2002, two dead beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris) were found stranded at Isla San Jose in
the Gulf of California.  The whales were found by a group of several marine mammalogists who were
coincidentally traveling in the area.  Among them were several senior scientists from NMFS with expertise in
beaked whales, the impacts of noise on marine mammals, and marine mammal stranding events.  The scientists
determined the whales to be in good physical condition with no overt signs of trauma, disease, or other obvious
cause of death.  

The R/V Maurice Ewing was operating in the approximate area of the stranding site on September 24, 2002
when the stranding is believed to have occurred.  The NMFS scientists contacted the vessel and the acoustic
research was temporarily halted.  On or about October 7, 2002, the R/V Maurice Ewing resumed airgun use in
the Gulf of California.

On October 8, 2002 at the annual meeting of the Marine Mammal Commission in San Diego, testimony was
presented on the stranding incident.  NMFS scientists testified that they believed that the stranding was related
to the actions of the R/V Maurice Ewing.  A NMFS scientist also testified that given the behavior of and
difficulty of surveying for beaked whales, none of the mitigations adopted by the R/V Maurice Ewing in the
wake of the stranding were likely to provide actual benefit to the whales.  The only effective mitigation would
likely be to carry out the research in areas where or in seasons when beaked whales would not likely be present.
The Gulf of California, however, contains one of the highest known concentrations of beaked whales in the
world.  Given the extremely low probability that the scientists who found the stranded whales would randomly
come across the only stranded whales in the Gulf, it is quite plausible to infer that the two whales discovered on
September 25, 2002 were just a small subset of the actual number of whales impacted by the R/V Maurice
Ewing sound source.

Also at the meeting of the Marine Mammal Commission, a presentation was made by scientists from NMFS
and Scripps on the emerging consensus that there is an indisputable association between strandings of beaked
whales and the use of high intensity acoustics.  In fact, a mass stranding of beaked whales occurred in the
Canary Islands on the very same day as the stranding in the Gulf of California.  The Canary Island stranding
was correlated with navel operations using high intensity sonar.  Similar strandings associated with military
operations occurred in the Bahamas in March 2000.  As with the strandings linked to the R/V Maurice Ewing,
the whales in the Bahamas showed no overt signs of trauma.  Necropsies conducted on the Bahama whales
indicated that the acoustic trauma from naval sonar was the only plausible explanation for the injuries observed.
While the research conducted by the R/V Maurice Ewing is not apparently military related and is not using the
same low and mid-frequency sonar linked to the Bahamas incident, it is usuing sound sources equivalent to or
greater in intensity than those linked to whale deaths in that incident.

In sum, it is highly likely that the dead whales observed on September 25, 2002 stranded as the result of the
airgun research of the R/V Maurice Ewing.  In addition to the beaked whales observed dead, the research is
likely to harm other marine mammals that occupy the water of the Gulf of California.  Among these are
federally listed endangered and threatened species, including the critically endangered vaquita.
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Violations of Law

The reseach currently being carried out by the R/V Maurice Ewing in the Gulf of California has never been
subject to environmental review under NEPA or the ESA, nor have any of the parties involved received permits
required by the ESA and MMPA.  As such, all parties funding, overseeing, carrying out, or otherwise associated
with the research are acting in violation of law.  As parties directly involved in this project, such actions may
subject you to civil or criminal penalties.

1. Violation of NEPA

The National Environmental Policy Act requires that all federal agencies must prepare an environmental impact
statement on “every recommendation and report on proposals for legislation and other major federal actions
significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.”  42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C).  The NSF is
unquestionably a federal agency for purposes of NEPA.  The current research project being carried out in the
Gulf of California by the R/V Maurice Ewing is clearly a "major federal action" triggering NEPA's
requirements.  First, the vessel is owned by NSF, so any action carried out by or facilitated by the operations of
the vessel is itself a federal action.  Additionally, the specific funding for the current research project has been
provided by NSF.  Such funding is also a federal action.  Finally, the MARGINS program of NSF, of which the
current research is a part, is also a federal action for purposes of NEPA.  The current research project also
significantly affects the environment- its actual and potential impacts to the marine mammals of the Gulf are
sufficient to trigger the need to do an EIS.  

That the research is occurring outside the waters of the United States does not obviate the requirement to
comply with NEPA.  The NSF should be well aware of this as the seminal case on the issue also concerned the
NSF ignoring its legal obligations under NEPA.  In Environmental Defense Fund v. Massey, 986 F.2d 528, 531
(D.C. Cir. 1993), the D.C. Circuit recognized that the ordinary presumption against extraterritorial application
of U.S. statutes does not apply to conduct that occurs within the United States.  NEPA regulates the
decisionmaking process of federal agencies, which “is a legitimate exercise of Congress’ territoriality-based
jurisdiction, and does not raise extraterritoriality concerns.”  Id. at 531-32.  More particularly, the EIS
requirement “binds only American officials and controls the very essence of the governmental function:
decisionmaking.  Because the decisionmaking processes of federal agencies take place almost exclusively in
this country and involve the workings of the United States government, they are uniquely domestic.”  Id. at 532.

The NSF must suspend the operations of the R/V Maurice Ewing until such time as it has complied with the
requirements of NEPA.

2. Violation of the MMPA

The NSF, Columbia University, the Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory, Georgia Tech, Dr. Lizarralde, and the
officers, directors, and presidents of these institutions have violated and continue to violate the MMPA for
carrying out activities that have resulted in "take" of marine mammals.  The MMPA prohibits the take of
marine mammals.
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§  1372. Prohibitions 

(a) Taking.  Except as provided in sections 101, 103, 104, 109, 111, 113, 114, and 118 of this title and
title IV [16 USCS § §  1371, 1373, 1374, 1379, 1381, 1383, 1383a, 1386, and 1421 et seq.], it is unlawful--

(1) for any person subject to the jurisdiction of the United States or any vessel or other 
conveyance subject to the jurisdiction of the United States to take any marine mammal on the 
high seas;

(2) except as expressly provided for by an international treaty, convention, or agreement to
which the United States is a party and which was entered into before the effective date of this
title or by any statute implementing any such treaty, convention, or agreement--

(A) for any person or vessel or other conveyance to take any marine mammal in waters or
on lands under the jurisdiction of the United States; or
(B) for any person to use any port, harbor, or other place under the jurisdiction of the
United States to take or import marine mammals or marine mammal products

16 U.S.C. § 1372.  Both §§ 1372(a)(1) and (2)(b) are applicable to the situation involving the R/V Maurice
Ewing.  Other than when it is within the Mexican territorial seas (within 12nm of shore), the operations of the
vessel are occurring within the "high seas" for purposes of the MMPA.  At the time this provision of the
MMPA was amended by Congress, "high seas" was understood to include all waters outside the territorial
waters of any nation.  The later adoption of EEZ's by Mexico and the United States does nothing to change this.
However, even if the term "high seas" could be interpreted to exclude the Mexican EEZ, the operations of the
R/V Maurice Ewing are subject to the prohibitions of the MMPA through § 1372(a)(2)(b).  The vessel began
the current leg of its research voyage by leaving the port of San Diego.  It clearly therefore "use[d] any port,
harbor, or other place under the jurisdiction of the United States."  This interpretation is reinforced by NMFS's
regulations interpreting this provision.  Such regulations state that it is unlawful for “[a]ny person to use any
port, harbor or other place under the jurisdiction of the United States for any purpose in any way connected
with a prohibited taking or an unlawful importation of any marine mammal or marine mammal product.” 50
C.F.R. § 216.13(a) (emphasis added).  By any reading of the statute and regulations, the R/V Maurice Ewing's
activities in the Gulf of California are subject to the take prohibitions of the MMPA.

The MMPA defines "take" as to "harass, hunt, capture, or kill, or attempt to harass, hunt, capture, or kill any
marine mammal."  16 U.S.C. § 1362(13).  The term "harassment" has been defined as "any act of pursuit,
torment, or annoyance which (i) has the potential to injure a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in the
wild; or (ii) has the potential to disturb a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in the wild by causing
disruption of behavioral patterns, including, but not limited to, migration, breathing, nursing, breeding, feeding
or sheltering."  16 U.S.C. § 1362(18)(A).

The research activities carried out by the R/V Maurice Ewing clearly have, at a minimum, "the potential to
disturb a marine mammal."  In fact, these activities also have "the potential to injure a marine mammal."  The
documented deaths of the two beaked whales is clear evidence that this potential has been realized.  The various
institutions and entities associated with the research have violated, and are likely to continue to violate the
MMPA so long as the research project continues its use of the airgun array.
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3. Violation of the ESA

The NSF, Columbia University, the Lamont-Doherty Earth Observatory, Georgia Tech, Dr. Lizarralde, and the
officers, directors, and presidents of these institutions have violated and continue to violate the ESA.  The NSF
is violating Section 7 of the ESA, while all entities are violating Section 9 of the ESA.

Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA requires federal agencies to “insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out
by such agency . . . is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or threatened
species or result in the adverse modification of habitat of such species . . .determined . . . to be critical . . . .” 16
U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a).  To accomplish this goal, agencies must consult with the delegated
agency of the Secretary of Commerce or Interior whenever their actions “may affect” a listed species.  16
U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a). 

Section 7 consultation is required for “any action [that] may affect listed species or critical habitat.” 50 C.F.R. §
402.14.  At the completion of consultation NMFS issues a Biological Opinion that determines if the agency
action is likely to jeopardize the species.  If so the opinion must specify reasonable and prudent alternatives that
will avoid jeopardy and allow the agency to proceed with the action. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b).  NMFS may also
“suggest modifications” to the action during the course of consultation to “avoid the likelihood of adverse
effects” to the listed species even when not necessary to avoid jeopardy.  50 C.F.R. § 402.13. 

Operation of the R/V Maurice Ewing as well as funding of the specific research project at issue are agency
actions as defined by the ESA and its implementing regulations.  As described above, such activity “may
affect” listed species.  The NSF is in violation of Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA and its implementing regulations
by failing to initiate and complete consultation on the effects of the research on blue whales, sei whales, fin
whales, humpback whales, sperm whales, the vaquita, the totoaba, as well as leatherback sea turtles, loggerhead
sea turtles, green sea turtles, olive ridely sea turtles, and hawksbill sea turtles.  Each of the species occur in the
Gulf of California and face a significant risk from the research activity.

The ESA also prohibits any “person” from “taking” threatened and endangered species. 16 U.S.C.§ 1538, 50
C.F.R. § 17.31.  The definition of "take", found at 16 U.S.C.§ 1532(19), states,

The term "take" means to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect,
or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.

A Court ruled “the statute not only prohibits the acts of those parties that directly exact the taking, but also bans
those acts of a third party that bring about the acts exacting a taking.  We believe that…a governmental third
party pursuant to whose authority an actor directly exacts a taking of an endangered species may be deemed to
have violated the provisions of the ESA.” Strahan v. Coxe, et al, 127 F.3d 155 (1st Cir. 1997).  Under this
expansive interpretation of Section 9 recognized by the courts, the NSF, Columbia University, the Lamont-
Doherty Earth Observatory, Georgia Tech, Dr. Lizarralde, and the officers, directors, and presidents of these
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institutions have violated and continue to violate Section 9 of the ESA because the research activities carried
out by and from the R/V Maurice Ewing are harming, harassing, and likely killing listed marine species.

Conclusion

We sincerely hope that the NSF and the other responsible parties will act sensibly and immediately suspend the
acoustic operations of the R/V Maurice Ewing.  If you do not, as stated above, we will promptly pursue
litigation in federal court against one or more of you.   If you have any questions, wish to meet to discuss this
matter, or feel this notice is in error,  please contact me at (909) 659-6053. Thank you for your immediate
attention to this matter.

Sincerely,   

Brendan Cummings, Attorney
Center for Biological Diversity

cc :

Secretary Donald L. Evans
Office of the Secretary
U.S. Department of Commerce
14th & Constitution Ave. NW, Room 5516
Washington, DC 20230
Phone: 202-482-2112
Fax: 202-482-2741

William Hogarth, Assistant Administrator
National Marine Fisheries Service
1315 East West Hwy.
Silver Spring, MD 20910
Phone: 301-713-2239
Fax: 301-713-1940

Lawrence Rudolph, General Counsel
National Science Foundation
4201 Wilson Blvd., Suite 1265
Arlington, VA 22230
Phone: 703-292-8060
Fax: 703-292-9041


